2001

Wesley F. Sine, Ray D. Emery, Roy P. Fisher, and
William R. Franklin v. Crestar Bank, Diana Group
Inc., Nancy Y. Cree, and Josephine Mangiapane :
Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code
Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1953, as amended).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review are as follows:

Issue 1: Did the court commit reversible error in ruling that the March 24, 1998 letter was ambiguous?

Standard of Review: This issue is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. *See, e.g., Jeffs v. Stubbs*, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998), *cert denied*, 119 S.Ct. 1803 (1999); *Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet*, 945 P.2d 180 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Issue 2: Did the court commit reversible error in ruling that extrinsic evidence was admissible to determine the meaning of the March 24, 1998 letter and the intent of the parties?

Standard of Review: This issue is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. *See, e.g., Jeffs v. Stubbs*, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998), *cert denied*, 119 S.Ct. 1803 (1999); *Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet*, 945 P.2d 180 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Issue 3: Did the court commit reversible error in ruling that there was no consideration for the March 24, 1998 letter?

Standard of Review: This issue is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. *See, e.g., Jeffs v. Stubbs*, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998), *cert denied*, 119 S.Ct. 1803 (1999); *Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet*, 945 P.2d 180 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Issue 4: Did the court commit reversible error in ruling that there was no meeting of the minds as to the meaning of the March 24, 1998 letter?

Standard of Review: This issue is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. *See, e.g., Jeffs v. Stubbs*, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998), *cert denied*, 119 S.Ct. 1803 (1999); *Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet*, 945 P.2d 180 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Issue 5: Did the court commit reversible error in ruling that the March 24, 1998 letter created, at most, a conditional obligation on the part of Crestar Bank to transfer money to Sine if, and only if, Diana Group first deposited that money with Crestar Bank?

Standard of Review: This issue is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. *See, e.g., Jeffs v. Stubbs*, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998), *cert denied*, 119 S.Ct. 1803 (1999); *Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet*, 945 P.2d 180 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Issue 6: Did the court commit reversible error in ruling that Appellants' interpretation of the March 24, 1998 letter is commercially unreasonable?

Standard of Review: This issue is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. *See, e.g., Jeffs v. Stubbs*, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998), *cert denied*, 119 S.Ct. 1803 (1999); *Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet*, 945 P.2d 180 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Issue 7: Did the court commit reversible error in ruling that Nancy Cree had no actual, implied or apparent authority to issue a guaranty or other obligation on behalf of Crestar Bank?

Standard of Review: This issue is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. *See, e.g., Jeffs v. Stubbs*, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998), *cert denied*, 119 S.Ct. 1803 (1999); *Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet*, 945 P.2d 180 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Issue 8: Did the court abuse its discretion by denying Appellants' Rule 15(b) motion to amend to add a cause of action for breach of Article 4A of the Uniform Commercial Code that conformed to the evidence?

Standard of Review: This issue is reviewed under a conditional discretionary standard. *See Fibro Trust Inc. v. Brahman Fin., Inc.* 974 P.2d 288 (Utah 1999); *see also England v. Horbach*, 944 P.2d 340 (Utah 1997).

Issue 9: Did the court abuse its discretion by denying Appellants' Rule 15(b) motion to amend to add a cause of action for violation of a letter of credit that conformed to the evidence?

Standard of Review: This issue is reviewed under a conditional discretionary standard. *See Fibro Trust Inc. v. Brahman Fin., Inc.* 974 P.2d 288 (Utah 1999); *see also England v. Horbach*, 944 P.2d 340 (Utah 1997).

Issue 10: Did the court abuse its discretion by denying Appellants' Rule 15(b) motion to amend to add a cause of action for negligence that conformed to the evidence?

Standard of Review: This issue is reviewed under a conditional discretionary standard. *See Fibro Trust Inc. v. Brahman Fin., Inc.* 974 P.2d 288 (Utah 1999); *see also England v. Horbach*, 944 P.2d 340 (Utah 1997).

Issue 11: Did the court abuse its discretion by denying Appellants' Rule 15(b) motion to amend to add a cause of action for Crestar Bank's breach of fiduciary duty that conformed to the evidence?

Standard of Review: This issue is reviewed under a conditional discretionary standard. *See Fibro Trust Inc. v. Brahman Fin., Inc.* 974 P.2d 288 (Utah 1999); *see also England v. Horbach*, 944 P.2d 340 (Utah 1997).

Issue 12: Did the court commit reversible error by granting Appellee Crestar Bank’s Rule 41(b) motion for partial dismissal when no findings were entered by the court pursuant to Rule 41(b) and Rule 52(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which motion dismissed Appellants’ claims that the wire instructions sent with the wire transfer of \$500,000.00 to Crestar Bank created an enforceable contract or obligation on the part of Crestar Bank pursuant to Article 4A of the Uniform Commercial Code?

Standard of Review: This issue is reviewed according to the standard set forth in *Merino v. Albertsons, Inc.*, 975 P.2d 467 (Utah 1999), which states, “A trial court is justified in granting a directed verdict only if, examining all evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, there is no competent evidence that would support a verdict in the non-moving party’s favor.” *Merino*, at 468.

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-4a-101 *et.seq.* (1953, as amended) . . . Addendum, Exhibit G
Utah Code Ann. § 70A-5-101 *et.seq.* (1953, as amended) Addendum, Exhibit H

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case

The central issue in this case is whether a reputable, billion-dollar bank is liable for inducing the Plaintiff to disgorge \$500,000.00 in exchange for the bank's promise to pay him \$2.5 million after 30 banking days.

Appellants seek to recover \$2.5 million from Appellee Crestar Bank in this action. In the early months of 1998, Josephine Rita Mangiapane, the president of Diana Group, Inc. ("Diana Group") approached Wesley F. Sine, the trustee of Appellants' trust ("Trustee Sine"), with regard to a business transaction. She proposed that Appellants place \$500,000.00 into Diana Group's account at Crestar Bank in return for the placement of \$2,500,000.00 in Appellants' account thirty banking days later. Appellants rejected Ms. Mangiapane's offer but stated that if she could get a bank to guarantee the transaction they would reconsider her offer. Ms. Mangiapane was successful in locating such a bank.

On March 24, 1998, Crestar Bank issued a letter warranting and certifying to pay \$2,500,000.00 to Trustee Sine thirty banking days after the deposit of \$500,000.00 into Diana Group's account at Crestar Bank. Three days later, in reliance on Crestar Bank's warranty to pay, Trustee Sine wired \$500,000.00 to Diana Group's account at Crestar. Appellants would not have placed their money into Diana Group's account without the March 24, 1998 warranty from Crestar Bank. At the time Appellants wired their funds to Crestar Bank, Appellants also sent special wire instructions to Crestar Bank instructing

Crestar Bank to pay the \$2,500,000.00 to Appellants' trust account within 30 banking days without further setoff or delay. Crestar Bank accepted the wire transfer and the wire instructions without question or objection. Crestar Bank did not give Appellants any indication that it would not honor the March 24, 1998 letter or the wire instructions. Rather, Crestar Bank accepted the wired funds and allowed Ms. Mangiapane to draw against them.

Thirty banking days came and went with no payment from Crestar Bank. Shortly thereafter it became apparent to Appellants that Crestar Bank had no intention of performing at all. Appellants therefore sued Crestar Bank through Trustee Sine (who was also serving as Appellants' attorney) in June, 1998 to recover the \$2,500,000.00 from Crestar Bank.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition at Trial

Sine's original complaint contained three causes of action: 1) breach of contract; 2) RICO violations; and 3) fraud. Following the filing of the original complaint, Crestar, and Cree filed motions to dismiss. (R. 31, 57.) Crestar moved to dismiss the fraud and RICO causes of action for lack of particularity. Cree moved to be dismissed for lack of personal jurisdiction, among other things. Sine countered by filing a motion for summary judgment. (R. 82.) Following a round of discovery, Sine moved to amend the complaint. (R. 344, 346.) The parties stipulated to allow the amendment. The purpose of the amendment was to plead the fraud and RICO causes of action with more particularity. The

filing of the amended complaint was again followed by a round of motions to dismiss from Crestar and Cree. (R. 435, 465.)

Ultimately, the trial court granted Crestar's motion to dismiss the RICO and fraud causes of action (R. 684.) and dismissed Nancy Cree for lack of jurisdiction (R. 695.). The trial court also denied Sine's motion for summary judgment. (R. 739.)

Appellants were joined as parties to the lawsuit on March 24, 2000. (R. 813.) Shortly thereafter, Sine withdrew as a party to the action. (R. 949.) Appellants filed a second motion to amend the complaint to add several other causes of action, including, but not limited to: fraud, RICO violations (both pleaded with more particularity), conversion, false pretenses, breach of Article 4A of the Uniform Commercial Code and breach of a letter of credit. (R. 1015.) Judge Young denied the motion. (R. 1200.)

The trial of the case took place in the Third District Court, Salt Lake Department on January 4 and 5, 2001 before Judge David S. Young. At the beginning of the trial, Judge Young allowed Appellants to substitute Sun Trust Bank as a defendant as the successor in interest to Crestar. (R. 1273. *See also* Trial Transcript at 4, lines 8-10.) Mr. Sine was the only witness to testify live before the court. Thereafter portions of the video-taped deposition testimonies of Ms. Cree and Ms. Mangiapane were played into the record. (*See* Trial Exhibits 30 and 31.) In the end Judge Young ruled that: 1) the March 24, 1998 letter was not binding upon Crestar Bank; 2) that the wire instructions sent with

the \$500,000.00 wire transfer were not enforceable; and 3) that Appellants were not entitled to the \$2,500,000.00 Crestar Bank promised to pay.

Believing the foregoing rulings to be errors of law, Appellants filed this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following material facts are relevant to this appeal (all citations to the record on appeal are indicated by the letter “R” followed by the page number and citations to the relevant paragraphs on that page, if any; exhibits entered into evidence at trial are cited as “Trial Exhibit”; all citations to the trial transcript are indicated by the words “Trial Transcript at” followed by the page number):

A. Crestar’s Initial Dealings with Wesley F. Sine

1. On February 6, 1998, Nancy Cree, in her capacity as Branch Manager and Assistant Vice President of Crestar, issued a letter to Wesley F. Sine, Trustee, whereby Crestar warranted and certified to transfer \$120 Million to Sine’s trust account at the Bank of Utah after 30 banking days in exchange for an immediate deposit of \$25 Million into the Diana Group’s account at Crestar. (Trial Exhibit 3.)
2. The \$25 Million was never acquired and, thus, never deposited in the Diana Group’s account. Consequently, Sine cancelled the February 6, 1998 transaction in a letter to Ms. Mangiapane dated March 12, 1998. (Trial Exhibit 4.)

3. Notwithstanding the cancellation of the February 6, 1998 transaction, Sine and Mangiapane began negotiating a similar transaction with smaller amounts of money after March 12, 1998. (*See* Trial Exhibit 5.)

B. The March 24, 1998 Letter

4. On March 23, 1998, the Diana Group sent a letter to Sine memorializing the outcome of the new negotiations, i.e., that Sine and the Diana Group would enter into the same transaction contemplated by the February 6, 1998 letter but with smaller amounts of money (\$500,000.00 from Sine instead of \$25 Million and \$2.5 Million in return instead of \$120 Million) and with a different account of Diana Group at Crestar. (Trial Exhibit 5.)
5. The next day, March 24, 1998, Crestar issued a letter to Sine that warranted and certified to transfer \$2.5 Million to Trustee Sine's trust account at the Bank of Utah after 30 banking days. The body of the letter reads as follows:

On behalf of our Client, Diana Group, Inc., we warrant and certify to transfer to you, directly, on a bank-to-bank basis, to your designated account, the sum of \$2,500,000.00. Said transfer will be no later than 30 banking days from the date after the deposit of \$500,000.00, to Escrow Account Number 206849540, Account Holder - 10321.

The letter is signed by Nancy Y. Cree, "Assistant Vice President and Branch Manager."

(Trial Exhibit 6; *see* Addendum, Exhibit A.)

C. Confirmation of the Letter and Wire Transfer of Funds

6. Trustee Sine transmitted the language of the March 24, 1998 letter issued to him by Crestar to Dave Taylor, an officer at the Bank of Utah, on March 26, 1998 in order to confirm that Crestar was obligated to transfer \$2.5 Million after 30 banking days even if the Diana Group failed to have that amount of money in its specified account on that date. (*See* Trial Exhibit 23.)
7. On March 27, 1998, in reliance on the representations of Crestar and the Diana Group, Sine wire transferred \$500,000.00 to the Diana Group's specified account at Crestar Bank. The wire transfer sent by Sine on March 27, 1998 included an instruction that read as follows:

The receipt and acceptance (by Crestar Bank) of this \$500,000.00USD wire, serves to reconfirm Bra. Mgr. letter dated 24 Mar.98. Said letter warrants & certifies Crestar's promise to pay, & transfer \$2,500,000USD (via bank to bank wire) without protest, set off or delay, within 31 banking days of receipt of this wire, to the account of Wesley F. Sine, atty. Trust Acct.#12036086, Bank of Utah, to the attn. of Mr. Dave Tayler, [sic.] Mgr.

(Trial Exhibits 7, 29; *see* Addendum, Exhibits B, D.)

8. At no time did Crestar object either orally or in writing to the wire transfer of the \$500,000.00 or to the special instruction sent with the wire transfer of the funds. (R. 1-11.)

D. Aftermath of the Wire Transfer

9. As a result of the issuance of the March 24, 1998 letter by Crestar and Crestar's acceptance of the wire transfer of funds, and because Crestar exercised a degree of control over the Diana Group's escrow account, Plaintiffs were looking to Crestar to pay the promised \$2.5 Million. (Trial Transcript at 150, 153.)
10. On March 28, 1998, the Diana Group sent a letter to Sine in which Ms. Mangiapane (not Crestar Bank) attempted to cancel the transaction memorialized in the March 24, 1998 letter to Sine from Crestar. (Trial Exhibit 9.)
11. Though Ms. Mangiapane is not an agent of Crestar Bank and does not represent Crestar Bank in any way, she attempted to nullify the transaction on behalf of Crestar as well. The March 28, 1998 letter further states, "We are thus terminating the transaction; and, nullifying the bank letter provided on our behalf. A letter from Crestar Bank N.A., will also be issued to you nullifying the March 24th., [sic.] letter referencing the Escrow Account. . . ." (Trial Exhibit 9)
12. The transaction was not, in fact, ever cancelled by the Diana Group. Nor did Crestar Bank ever withdraw the March 24, 1998 letter or return Plaintiffs' \$500,000.00. (R. 1203-1221.)

13. Instead, Crestar allowed Ms. Mangiapane to withdraw the funds at her leisure, which funds were completely consumed by Ms. Mangiapane and the Diana Group within only a couple of weeks after the deposit. (R. 1208.)
14. On April 1, 1998, the Diana Group wired \$400,000.00 of the original \$500,000.00 deposited by Sine to the Barry J. Marcus Trust Account in Hollywood, Florida. On April 15, 1998, the Diana Group wired an additional \$95,000.00 of the remaining \$100,000.00 to the Barry J. Marcus Trust Account in Hollywood, Florida. (R. 1208.)
15. In the interim, on March 30, 1998, Ms. Mangiapane, as president of the Diana Group, Inc., entered into a Private Placement Agreement with Sine with regard to the use and/or placement of the \$500,000.00. (Trial Exhibit 11.)
16. According to the terms of the Private Placement Agreement, the Diana Group was obligated to return \$2.5 Million to Sine's trust account after 30 banking days in exchange for the deposit of \$500,000.00 into the Diana Group's account at Crestar Bank. (Trial Exhibit 11.)

E. Defaults and Extensions

17. On May 5, 1998, Sine informed the Diana Group, by way of a faxed letter, that the deadline to pay the promised \$2.5 Million was May 8, 1998, the 30th

banking day following the March 27, 1998 transfer of the \$500,000.00 into Diana's account. (R. 1208.)

18. On May 7, 1998, Sine sent instructions to Crestar Bank about how to wire transfer the \$2.5 Million to his trust account at the Bank of Utah. (Trial Exhibit 12.)
19. Diana did not perform according to the terms of the Private Placement Agreement on May 8, 1998; the \$2.5 Million she agreed to transfer to Sine, as Trustee, were not transferred on that date. Neither did Crestar transfer \$2.5 Million to Sine on that date. (*See* Trial Exhibit 13)
20. The Diana Group requested an extension of time to perform on May 8, 1998, by way of a letter to Sine. (Trial Exhibit 13.)
21. Sine granted the extension to May 13, 1998 and authorized Crestar to delay payment until May 13, 1998. (Trial Exhibit 14.)
22. The Diana Group sent a letter to sine on May 13, 1998 requesting another extension of time to pay to May 15 but no later than May 18, 1998. Sine granted this extension of time to pay as well as evidenced in the correspondence traded between the parties on that date. (Trial Exhibit 26.)
23. Neither the Diana Group nor Crestar wired \$2.5 Million to Sine's trust account at the Bank of Utah on May 18, 1998. (R. 1209.)

24. On May 20, 1998, Sine demanded confirmation from Ms. Mangiapane that the funds were being wired on that day. The funds were not, in fact, wired on that day. (R. 1209.)
25. The following day, May 21, 1998, Sine informed Crestar that he was looking to Crestar for payment of the \$2.5 Million based on the letter Crestar issued on March 24, 1998. (Trial Exhibit 16.)
26. Ms. Mangiapane sent a letter to Crestar on that same day assuring the bank that the Diana Group would pay the money to Sine that day and that she only lacked one signature to release the funds. Sine sent a follow up letter to both the Diana Group and Crestar that same day. (Trial Exhibit 17.)
27. Despite two extensions of time to perform, Diana did not perform and has never performed according to the terms of the Private Placement Agreement. Neither has Crestar Bank ever performed according to the terms of the March 24, 1998 letter or according to the terms of the wire transfer instruction. (R. 1247, ¶¶ 6, 8 and 9.)
28. The entire amount owing by Crestar is \$2.5 Million plus interest at the highest legal rate. (See Trial Exhibits 6, 7 and 29; see Addendum, Exhibits A, B and D.)

F. The Unisource Letter

29. Crestar issued another letter, identical in all respects except for money amounts and account numbers, to Zahra Ghods at Unisource Capital, which letter warranted and certified to transfer \$2 Million to Unisource, after 15 banking days. (The “Unisource Letter”.) The Unisource Letter says, in its entirety:

On behalf of our Client, Diana Group, Inc., we warrant and certify to transfer to you, directly, on a bank-to-bank basis, to your designated account, the sum of \$2,000,000.00. Said transfer will be no later than 15 banking days from the date after the deposit of \$1,000,000.00, to Escrow Account Number 206849540, Account Holder - 10321.

(Trial Exhibit 38; *see* Addendum, Exhibit E.) Like the March 24, 1998 Letter, the Unisource letter is signed by Nancy Y. Cree, “Assistant Vice President and Branch Manager.”

30. On March 30, 1998 Crestar rescinded the letter of March 24, 1998 it sent to Ms. Ghods at Unisource Capital, saying, “As per our internal guidelines, we are not in a position to make this commitment until we actually have the funds on deposit and written instructions from our customer.” (Trial Exhibit 39; *see* Addendum, Exhibit F.)
31. No such letter of rescission was ever issued to Sine by Crestar or anyone purporting to act on behalf of Crestar. (R. 1210.)

G. Legal Proceedings Commenced

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