2001

Wesley F. Sine, Ray D. Emery, Roy P. Fisher, and
William R. Franklin v. Crestar Bank, Diana Group
Inc., Nancy Y. Cree, and Josephine Mangiapane :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Third, the trial court found a source of ambiguity in the “odd and unconventional language of the document itself.” Instead of being in the usual form of guaranty or other bank commitment, the peculiar nature and language of the document itself created an ambiguity.

Finally, the trial court found that ambiguity was “created by the purported return on investment of 400% in six weeks.” R. 1297, Findings 21(c) and (d). In other words, the document cannot reasonably be understood to be an unconditional guaranty of a transaction that purported to quintuple Sine’s investment in “30 banking days.” *See Udall v. Colonial Penn. Ins. Co.*, 812 P.2d 777, 784 (N.M. 1991) (“In construing a contract, the law favors a reasonable rather than unreasonable interpretation.”); *Wilson Court Ltd. v. Tony Maroni’s Inc.*, 952 P.2d 590, 597-99 (Wash. 1998) (contract in commercial setting should be given a commercially reasonable construction); *Amfac, Inc.*

v. Waikiki Beachcomber Inv. Co., 839 P.2d 10, 25 (Haw. 1992) (“Where the language of a contract is susceptible of two constructions, one of which makes it fair, customary and such as prudent men would naturally execute, while the other makes it inequitable, unusual, or such as reasonable men would not likely enter into, the interpretation which makes a fair, rational and probable contract must be preferred.”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

The foregoing demonstrates that “the language [of the letter] is reasonably capable of being understood in more than one sense.” *Dixon*, 1999 UT 89 ¶ 14, 987 P.2d at 52. Clearly, at a minimum, Crestar presented a “contrary, tenable interpretation” that justified the trial court’s conclusion that the document was ambiguous on its face. *Id.* at ¶ 25.

In addition to the correct ruling of facial ambiguity, there is a further reason to uphold the trial judge’s determination of ambiguity. Under the *Ward* standard, as noted above, the trial court must engage in “a preliminary consideration of all credible evidence offered to prove the intention of the parties . . . so that the court can place itself in the same situation in which the parties found themselves at the time of contracting.” 907 P.2d at 268. In this case, the extrinsic evidence (appropriately marshaled) supports the trial judge’s finding that the intention of the parties was consistent with the interpretation advanced by Crestar, i.e., the document created a conditional obligation to transfer funds if Diana Group first deposited the money. Moreover, the interpretation is reasonably supported by the language of the March 24 letter.

The marshaled evidence includes: Sine was an experienced attorney and businessman, and was familiar with the typical form of bank guaranties and similar

obligations. R. 1355 at 103-04, 115-17. The language of the letter was drafted by Mangiapane, not the Bank. R. 1357, Mangiapane Dep. at 67 (Addendum Ex. C). Sine attempted to negotiate different language with Mangiapane in an effort to change the document into a guaranty. Ex. 22 (Addendum Ex. H); R. 1355 at 137-38; R. 1357, Mangiapane Dep. at 75-76 (Addendum Ex. C). Mangiapane refused. R. 1357, Mangiapane Dep. at 76 (Addendum Ex. C). The Bank was never a party to the negotiations between Sine and Mangiapane and was unaware that Sine was seeking a guaranty. R. 1355 at 117-19, 138; R. 1357, Mangiapane Dep. at 67-68 (Addendum Ex. C), *see also* references supporting Finding 18, *supra*. Mangiapane and Cree (whose testimony the trial judge found more credible than Sine's) both understood the March 24 letter to be a conditional obligation of the Bank to transfer funds from Diana Group's account to Sine after Diana Group deposited the money. *See* references supporting Finding 22, *supra*. Most significantly, prior to the time Sine wired the money to the Bank, Cree told him in a phone conversation that the Bank's obligation to transfer the money to Sine was conditioned on Diana Group first depositing that amount with the Bank. R. 1357, Cree Dep. at 48-49, 51-52, 69-70 (Addendum Ex. D). Knowing all this, Sine went ahead and invested the money in Diana Group. R. 1357, Mangiapane Dep. at 91 (Addendum Ex. C).

Finally, the marshaled evidence of the intention of the parties is reasonably supported by the language of the March 24 letter stating that the Bank will "transfer" funds "on behalf of" Diana Group. Thus, the trial court's factual findings are not clearly erroneous, and the determination that the letter is ambiguous should be affirmed.

III. THE CHALLENGED CONCLUSIONS REGARDING THE MEANING OF THE MARCH 24 LETTER AND CREE'S LACK OF AUTHORITY ARE SUPPORTED BY THE UNCHALLENGED FINDINGS AND THE RECORD

Once the trial court determined that the March 24 letter was ambiguous, it admitted extrinsic evidence as to its meaning⁴ and determined that the document was, at most, a conditional obligation of the Bank to transfer money after Diana Group had deposited it with the Bank. The trial court also found that Cree was without authority to issue any type of guaranty on behalf of the Bank.

Without identifying the findings they challenge or marshaling the evidence as required, Plaintiffs argue that the trial judge erred and urge this Court to adopt their favorable interpretation of the evidence presented below. In any event, the marshaled evidence supports the trial court's findings and conclusions on both issues and the decision below should be affirmed.

A. The Trial Court Properly Found That the March 24, 1998 Letter Was, at Best, a Conditional Obligation

Plaintiffs disagree with the trial court's fact findings concerning the interpretation of the March 24 letter. Pls.' Br. at 23-28. Plaintiffs never specify which findings of fact they dispute, but apparently their argument is focused on Findings 22, 24, and 35. The effect of Plaintiffs' argument, however, is to challenge almost all of the court's findings. See R. 1300, Finding 35 (citing "all of the foregoing" findings plus other factors in

⁴ Where an agreement is ambiguous, extrinsic evidence is admissible to determine its meaning. *Plateau Mining Co. v. Utah Div. of State Lands & Forestry*, 802 P.2d 720, 725 (Utah 1990) ("[I]f a contract is ambiguous, parol evidence is admissible to explain the parties' intent."), *appeal after remand*, 886 P.2d 514 (Utah 1994).

finding that the March 24 letter created, “at most, a conditional obligation on the part of Crestar to transfer money to Sine if, and only if, Diana Group first deposited that money with the Bank”). As noted above, Plaintiffs fail to marshal the evidence supporting these findings.

In reviewing these findings, this Court will apply a deferential standard. “A party challenging the trial court’s interpretation of ambiguous terms of a contract faces a substantial appellate burden. We affirm the trial court’s findings if they are based on sufficient evidence in the light most favorable to the trial court’s construction.” *Wade v. Stangl*, 869 P.2d 9, 12 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). *See also Interwest Const. v. Palmer*, 923 P.2d 1350, 1359 (Utah 1996) (“Determining the meaning of a contract by extrinsic evidence generally presents questions of fact for the trier of fact, whose findings we [the appellate court] review[s] deferentially.”); *Trolley Square Assocs. v. Nielson*, 886 P.2d 61, 64 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (“The findings of the trial court regarding the intent of the parties, determined by extrinsic evidence, will be overturned only if clearly erroneous.”).

Plaintiffs urge that the court erred in not adopting Sine’s interpretation of the letter. Sine testified that the letter was an unconditional promise to pay the \$2.5 million in 30 banking days and that he relied on it as such. *See* Pls.’ Br. at 24-25. Sine’s own testimony concerning his understanding of the meaning of the letter is the only evidence Plaintiffs offer in support of their interpretation. *Id.* Not only does this effort fail to satisfy the marshaling requirement, the trial court specifically found Sine’s testimony to be less credible than that of Cree and Mangiapane. R. 1297, 1300, Findings 22, 24, 35;

see also references supporting these findings, *supra*. Plaintiffs' reliance on discredited testimony is inappropriate on appeal. Likewise, it is improper for Plaintiffs to argue that "the Cree and Mangiapane interpretations [of the letter] are not credible." Pls.' Br. at 27. The trial court specifically found that the testimony of Cree and Mangiapane was more credible than Sine's. R. 1300, 1302, Finding 35, Conclusion 6. This Court should summarily reject Plaintiffs' request to perform a *de novo* determination of the credibility of the witnesses.

On the other hand, Plaintiffs ignore substantial evidence that supports the trial court's findings and conclusion that the letter was nothing more than a conditional promise to transfer. The marshaled evidence demonstrates that Sine specifically negotiated with Mangiapane to obtain stronger language in the letter, but she rejected his requests. R. 1355 at 137-38; Ex. 22 (Addendum Ex. H); R. 1357, Mangiapane Dep. at 75-76 (Addendum Ex. C). Cree testified that when Sine telephoned her, **before he had wired any money to Diana Group's account**, she told him that the Bank's obligation to transfer under the letter was conditioned on Diana Group first depositing the funds with the Bank. R. 1357, Cree Dep. at 48-49, 51-52, 60-61, 69-70 (Addendum Ex. D). Sine, himself, recognized the inadequacy of the letter because when he wired the \$500,000 he attempted to attach "instructions" purporting to change the Bank's obligation to "transfer" into a "promise to pay." R. 1355 at 145-46; Ex. 23 (Addendum Ex. J). (The ineffectiveness of these wire "instructions" is discussed below in section V.)

The evidence also demonstrates that, after Sine had wired the \$500,000, and while the money was still on deposit in the Diana Group account at Crestar, Mangiapane faxed

a letter to Sine stating that the transaction was cancelled because Sine was trying to characterize it as an obligation of the Bank rather than an obligation of Diana Group. Ex. 9 (Addendum Ex. L); R. 1355 at 74-75, 153-54; R. 1357, Mangiapane Dep. at 96-98 (Addendum Ex. C). Mangiapane also offered to return Sine’s money to him. *Id.* Instead of accepting Mangiapane’s offer to return his money, Sine renegotiated his transaction with Diana Group and signed a “Private Placement Agreement” in which he acknowledged that the \$2.5 million that the Bank was to transfer would be first “returned” by the Diana Group. Ex. 11 ¶ 4 (Addendum Ex. N); R. 1355 at 84-85, 158-59; R. 1357, Mangiapane Dep. at 93-95, 100-02 (Addendum Ex. C).

Viewed in the light most favorable to Crestar, as required by *Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet*, 945 P.2d 180, 186 (Utah App. 1997), the foregoing evidence is clearly sufficient to support the trial court’s findings concerning the meaning of the March 24 letter—that it was, at most, a conditional promise to transfer \$2.5 million if Diana Group deposited the money.

B. The Trial Court Properly Found That Cree Lacked Apparent Authority To Issue a Guaranty

Next, Plaintiffs argue that Cree had apparent authority to obligate the Bank by means of the March 24 letter. Pls.’ Br. at 28-34. This argument is moot if this Court upholds the trial court’s determination that the letter was, at most, a conditional obligation, as discussed above. This Court would not need to reach the issue of Cree’s authority unless it were to set aside the trial court’s findings and rule that the March 24 letter was a guaranty or some other unconditional obligation of the Bank.

Once again, Plaintiffs fail to specify which findings they dispute. (Findings 29 and 30 deal with apparent authority. R. 1298.) Once again, they fail to marshal the pertinent evidence but, instead, selectively cite to bits of evidence that support their position.

In *Zions First Nat. Bank v. Clark Clinic Corp.*, 762 P.2d 1090 (Utah 1998), the Utah Supreme Court explained basic agency principles as follows:

Under agency law, an agent cannot make its principal responsible for the agent's actions unless the agent is acting pursuant to either actual or apparent authority. Actual authority incorporates the concepts of express and implied authority.

In comparison [to actual authority], an agent's apparent or ostensible authority flows only from the acts and conduct of the principal. Indeed, as we stated in *City Electric v. Dean Evans Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, [672 P.2d 89, 90 (Utah 1983)]: Where corporate liability is sought for acts of its agent under apparent authority, liability is premised upon the corporation's knowledge of and acquiescence in the conduct of its agent which has led third parties to rely upon the agent's actions. Nor is the authority of the agent 'apparent' merely because it looks so to the person with whom he deals. It is the principal who must cause third parties to believe that the agent is clothed with apparent authority. It follows that one who deals exclusively with an agent has the responsibility to ascertain that agent's authority despite the agent's representations.

* * * *

It is well-established that the mere fact that an employee has managerial status and is in charge of a company's office does not entitle third persons to assume that he had the authority to execute or endorse negotiable paper belonging to his employer.

Id. at 1094-95 (citations omitted).

The record supports the trial court's findings concerning Cree's lack of apparent authority. R. 1357, Cree Dep. at 76-77 (Addendum Ex. D). Plaintiffs point to nothing in the record suggesting that Crestar did anything independent of Cree's actions to lead Sine

to believe that she was clothed with apparent authority or that the Bank knew of, or acquiesced in, Cree's issuance of the March 24 letter.⁵

Sine, by his own admission, did nothing more than ask Cree herself if she was an assistant vice-president and branch manager. Pls.' Br. at 30. He made no effort to ascertain Cree's authority in any other way. R. 1355 at 55-56; references supporting Findings 29, 30. *See Zions Bank*, 762 P.2d at 1095 (mere fact that an employee has managerial status and is in charge of a company's office does not entitle third persons to assume that he had a particular authority). Sine never asked Cree or anyone else at Crestar whether Cree had authority to guaranty his \$2.5 million transaction with Diana Group.

Finally, Plaintiffs refer to Mangiapane's testimony that Cree was "one of the better employees" and that she could cash checks for customers. This third-party opinion testimony has no relevance whatsoever to whether the Bank did something to communicate to Sine that Cree had apparent authority. Pls.' Br. at 30.⁶

⁵ Plaintiffs claim that "Cree testified that her supervisor, Nancy Wilson, knew about the March 24, 1998 Letter" Pls.' Br. at 31. This is not correct, and the assertion is not supported by Plaintiffs' citation to Cree's testimony. Actually, Cree testified that none of her supervisors knew about the March 24 letter until after Sine filed this lawsuit. R. 1357, Cree Dep. at 111 (Addendum Ex. D). Plaintiffs also assert, with circular logic, that the Bank was aware of the letter because Cree herself was aware of it. Pls.' Br. at 31 & n.3. The applicable rule is that a principal is not charged with knowledge of an agent acting outside her authority unless someone other than the agent is aware of the conduct. Restatement (Second) of Agency § 280.

⁶ Plaintiffs cite to a number of authorities purportedly concerning apparent authority or imputed knowledge. These cases are inapplicable to, or distinguishable from, this case for various reasons. *See Macris v. Sculptured Software, Inc.*, 2001 UT 43, 24 P.3d 984 (agent's knowledge is imputed to principal if agent is acting within the scope

When properly marshaled, the evidence clearly supports the trial court's findings that Crestar did nothing to create an apparent authority on the part of Nancy Cree and that Sine had no reasonable basis for believing that she could unconditionally obligate the Bank to pay \$2.5 million. Accordingly, the findings should be affirmed.

IV. THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED PLAINTIFFS' RULE 15(B) MOTIONS

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